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On 30 December 1986 the Commission of Inquiry on War Criminals,
established in 1985 by the federal government, released its findings. Nearly
hidden among the more controversial aspects of the lengthy document were
four pages devoted to Canada’s role in Operation Matchbox, a scheme initiated
by the Western powers after 1945 to exploit the skills of German scientists and
technicians. Having discovered the program’s existence very late in his
mandate, Justice Jules Deschenes determined he did not have enough
information to rule whether 55 of the 71 Germans sponsored by Canada were
implicated in war crimes. The Justice therefore advised that “the Government
of Canada should carry out the additional inquiries indicated in each individual
opinion and then make a decision accordingly.” ! Canadian reaction to these
revelations was sporadic and muted. The press, concerned more about whether
Josef Mengele had entered or tried to enter Canada, paid little attention to the
importation of German scientists. Possibly the only critical response came
from David Matas, a prominent Jewish activist. Noting that German nationals
were barred from entering Canada until 1950, Matas labelled as “shocking”
Canada’s “direct and willing” participation in a plan to keep skilled Germans
“from falling into Soviet hands immediately after the war.” 2

This paper will study Canada’s role in the international effort to recruit
German scientists and technicians, an activity that involved Britain, the United
States, the Soviet Union, France, Australia, and Argentina. Canadian
motivation for taking part stemmed from a genuine belief the Germans would
be an important economic and scientific asset to a burgeoning and diversifying
Canadian economy. Only later as the Cold War intensified was the denial to
the Soviets of German expertise used as justification for bringing the
individuals in question across the Atlantic. Strongest support for participation
was found in the Departments of External Affairs and Trade and Commerce,
the National Research Council (NRC), and from C.D. Howe, Canada’s
wartime “superminister” and the acting Minister of Mines and Resources in
1947 when the most important decisions were taken. Although no senior
official counseled against taking in some Germans, both the Immigration
Branch and the Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) advised caution,
fearing potential damage to national security. The Department of Labour too
caused some difficulties when it attempted to bring the Canadian portion of
Matchbox, and other immigration matters, under its aegis.

The first inkling that German personnel might be recruited by Canada came
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in May 1945 when Roy Geddes of the Canadian Military Mission (CMM) in
Berlin suggested some German scientists might be brought to Canada for use
in industry. This suggestion was not followed up as NRC President C.J.
Mackenzie recommended against the plan.* Two months later in a letter to
Canada’s High Commissioner to Britain, Vincent Massey, NRC employee
A.G. Shenstone noted Britain and the United States were importing German
scientists. The stated rationale for these actions was that the scientists were
necessary to continue the war against Japan, but Shenstone was “convinced
that this is an excuse for unilateral action.” Certain Canada should be involved,
the London-based NRC staffer noted a decision to participate could be made
only “at the very highest level.” Massey forwarded the letter to his superiors at
External Affairs, counseling that Canada’s participation in the British
Intelligence Objectives Subcommittee (BIOS), the body which would be
handling the acquisition of German experts, made formal Canadian diplomatic
representation unnecessary. Shenstone, the High Commissioner reported, was
“now inclined to agree and is willing to withdraw, at least for the time being,
his suggestion that this question also should be taken up through diplomatic
channels.”™

If the Canadian government preferred inaction, this posture was not
duplicated by the British and Americans. Starting in late 1944, British and
American military teams had begun seizing German facilities and personnel,
particularly those connected to the German atomic bomb project. 3 In July 1945
the United States Joint Chiefs of Staff approved Operation Overcast, a scheme
to use temporarily 350 German scientists in the war against Japan and to carry
out postwar defense research. This number was increased to 1,000 in the spring
of 1946 and received a new name, Operation Paperclip, the project receiving
President Harry Truman’s assent in September 1946.° The British were even
more enthusiastic in their efforts to acquire German expertise, perhaps because
their nation’s economic situation was so desperate at war’s end. In December
1945 the Minister of Trade Stafford Cripps appointed Sir Charles Darwin,
head of the National Physics Laboratory, to oversee the recruitment of
Germans. Stalled at first by hostile public reaction, the program gained
impetus in early 1946 with news that German specialists residing in Britain’s
occupation zone were being hired by the Soviets and French. Believing their
nation “was suffering an acute shortage of scientists and technicians in all
fields,” the British military services agreed in September 1946 it might be
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necessary to take in Nazis to deny them to the Soviet Union. Therefore in
January 1947 the British cabinet was asked by Cripps to authorize the transfer
of 500 Germans to the United Kingdom.’

The issue of bringing German specialists to Canada was put to the fore in
September 1946 by C.J. Mackenzie. Previously opposed because he feared that
the “possible political difficulties arising from the employment of such persons
would probably outweigh the scientific advantages which might accrue from
their work in Canada,” Mackenzie told Under-Secretary of State for External
Affairs (USSEA) N.A. Robertson he had reversed his stand because Canada
risked losing the skills of individuals able to make important contributions “to
specialized forms of scientific research for which suitably qualified Canadian
scientists are not available.” Mackenzie indicated he was prepared to bring the
matter before C.D. Howe, the Minister of Reconstruction and Supply.?
Mackenzie was as good as his word, contacting Howe on 26 September.
Remarking Britain had approached External Affairs several times about
employing German scientists, the NRC chief was now willing to support the
importation of experts for specific work for which no qualified Canadians were
available. Mackenzie declared only those scientists who were known
personally by Canadians should be admitted and he suggested at first only one
individual should be accepted. Noting Robertson had warned that no further
action could be taken until there was a cabinet decision, Mackenzie asked
Howe to present the notion to his ministerial colleagues.’

Howe, well-known for getting things done, certainly was interested.
Outlining Mackenzie’s request to the cabinet on 2 October, Howe promised
the persons involved “would be thoroughly investigated before acceptance”.
After some discussion the ministers “agreed that the proposals of the President
of the National Research Council be approved.”!® Mackenzie too was no
longer inclined to waste time. Nine days later he asked Lester Pearson, the new
USSEA (Robertson had become High Commissioner to Britain), for
permission to recruit Dr. Kurt Starke, a radio chemistry specialist for a position
at Hamilton’s McMaster University. Eager to help, Pearson asked Robertson at
Canada House to investigate carefully those individuals selected “from the
political and security point of view,” and to aid the Immigration Branch in
expediting the transfer of Dr. Starke and seven German technicians asked for
by two Canadian firms, Beaver’s Dental Burrs Industry and Canadian Car and
Foundry. The recruitment of the seven additional men, Pearson advised, was
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made possible because both External Affairs and Trade and Commerce
believed the cabinet’s decision could cover more than just the transfer of one
person.!

Trade and Commerce proved an enthusiastic advocate of expanding the
program. In a 6 November letter to A.L. Jolliffe, Director of the Immigration
Branch, G.D. Mallory, Director of Trade and Commerce’s Industrial
Development Division, stated a limited number of German technicians were
required in order to establish new Canadian industries. He declared also Dr.
O.M. Solandt, Director General of Defense Research at the Department of
National Defense (DND), had told him British civilian and military officials
“were anxious to help Canada to bring technicians and scientists to this
country.” In contact with Geddes in Berlin, Mallory had made arrangements
with eight Canadian firms to take 15 German technicians. If Canadian
companies did a little more scouting in Germany, Mallory was certain this
could swell to 25 or 50 technicians, and if scientists were included, “the list
might reach 75 or even 100.”"

Mallory’s letter was apparently the first Jolliffe had heard of the scheme. In
a memorandum to J.A. Glen, the Minister of Mines and Resources (the
ministry to which the Immigration Branch reported), Jolliffe remarked his
office had no record of the cabinet meeting (Glen had not attended the meeting
and was informed of its proceedings on 9 November). However, Cabinet
Secretary A.D.P. Heeney had told the Immigration Branch head what had
transpired, and Jolliffe thought the matter required immediate attention.
Pointing out Mallory’s estimate of 100 scientists far exceeded what the cabinet
had authorized, Jolliffe informed Glen the individuals in question were all
German citizens and enemy aliens whose admission into Canada was
“prohibited under present regulations, both on the grounds of citizenship and
occupation.” A ministerial permit would be necessary for those seeking to
enter Canada for a specific period. If permanent admission was the preferred
option, then “the authority of the Governor in Council would be required to
waive the present regulations.” Jolliffe favoured the first alternative because of
its flexibility - the individual could return home or apply later for permanent
status. He advised Glen to take up the matter with cabinet, adding “that the
matter is of some urgency due to the fact that other countries are active in
obtaining the service of these men.”"

Glen, not a strong minister, used Jolliffe to reassert his influence. In a letter
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to Heeney dated 9 November, Jolliffe indicated Glen would like to be present
when cabinet considered the matter again. Unfortunately, the minister was
leaving Ottawa that night and hoped any such discussion could wait on his
return. Glen did want to emphasize two points: any German accepted should be
taken only if there were no qualified Canadians available; and “that there
should be the most careful security screening before the individual cases are
finally approved.”'* The cabinet, however, did not await Glen’s return,
probably because of the perceived need for quick action, possibly because
Glen had little clout. ' On 12 November Prime Minister W.L.M. King read
Jolliffe’s memorandum to the assembled ministers, emphasizing in particular
the need to acquire German technicians to help establish new industries in
Canada and for educational purposes. The cabinet agreed that its 2 October
decision should “be extended to permit the temporary admission to Canada of
German scientists and technicians required for industrial and educational
purposes; admission in each case to be recommended by the President of the
National Research Council and the Director General of Defense Research.”!¢
If Ottawa thought the way had been cleared for an expeditious initiation of
an importation program, Robertson cast cold water on those hopes. Obtaining
the services of Starke or any other German expert was impossible until Canada
had reached an agreement with the Dominions Office concerning such issues
as contracts, pay, and security arrangements. Furthermore, all applications had
to be examined to determine the qualifications of the Germans and to ensure
none had been active Nazis. Two bodies were involved in this procedure: the
Darwin Panel if the person was to work in industry; and the British Deputy
Chiefs of Staff Committee (DCOS) if the individual was to be employed in
military research. Those recruited by Britain were offered initially six-month
contracts with an understanding the term could be extended if the individual’s
work was satisfactory. The British Board of Trade, Robertson declared, was
anxious to ensure that Canada not compete with Britain or the Commonwealth
by offering higher wages. Once the policy details had been worked out, the
Board of Trade estimated it would take four to six weeks to process a Canadian
request. Robertson asked for permission to contact the Dominions Office at
once but he needed to know if Ottawa would accept the British screening
process and the type of contracts and remuneration that might be offered. 7
The first steps toward coordinating Canadian and British policy began when
Canada House’s D.V. LePan met with officials from the Dominions Office, the
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Board of Trade, the Control Commission for Germany, the Deputy Chiefs, and
the Department of Scientific and Industrial Research on 20 November. They
agreed Canada should provide as many details about the specific people it
wanted as well as particulars about the type of work they would be given. In the
event Britain and Canada sought the same person, the dispute would be settled
by LePan and F.J. Broomfield of the Board of Trade. Once such problems were
settled, the Canadian list would be submitted for approval to the United States.
The Board of Trade promised to track down individuals in Germany for
Canada but the Canadian Military Mission in Berlin would have to arrange any
contract signings and exit permits. Security checks would be conducted in
Germany by the British and the Control Office maintained the right to “veto
the proposal to recruit any German on the list required for civil purposes if they
consider him to be essential to the German economy.”'®

Referring to British recruiting methods as “a masterpiece of bureaucratic
ingenuity and complexity,” Robertson warned on 27 November that the
American role could not be overlooked. Britain had agreed in 1945 to avoid a
ruinous competition for talent by submitting its list of recruits to Washington.
Despite the delays involved in this process, Robertson believed there was no
choice but to follow along. Furthermore, by accepting British help Canada
likely would not be in a position to offer contracts very much different from
those of Britain. However, Robertson thought the British practice of arranging
contracts allowed for more effective control of recruits, ensured security, kept
complaints from unions and professional bodies to a minimum, and gave the
government title to any discoveries made by the scientists. Robertson therefore
recommended adopting the British system and indicated he would begin the
acquisition of Starke and seven other technicians. Most importantly,
Robertson made the first reference by a Canadian official to the Cold War
political context in which the acquisition of German scientists was operating.
Until the present, he claimed, Allied efforts to employ Germans had been
“positive: to make use of the knowledge and expertise of some German
scientists and technicians which is not otherwise available.” However, in the
aftermath of the deportation of German scientists to the Soviet Union,
Robertson reported British and American military commands were
recommending an expansion of the scheme to deny the Soviets the chance to
recruit Germans living in their occupation zones. Britain’s cabinet had not yet
decided to take more scientists, but if it did, Robertson thought up to 2,000
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people might be involved. If so, it was “conceivable that the Canadian
government may be asked to find employment for some of these scientists.”!

Certainly Robertson’s cables gave Ottawa much to consider, and Mallory
and Jolliffe were determined to act upon the High Commissioner’s concerns.
They agreed Trade and Commerce should clear with the cabinet the question
of contracts between the Canadian government and the Germans. In the
interim, existing cases would be settled by consulting Solandt and Mackenzie.
Solandt and Mackenzie could offer little help though. Solandt declined to
sponsor Starke, stating he was not interested in the project. Asked to judge the
qualifications of some German technicians, Mackenzie, although very much in
favour of importing German expertise, replied he was not qualified to pass
judgment on their skills. However, if the Darwin Panel approved their
qualifications, Mackenzie would “be very glad to accept that decision.”? The
RCMP were not much more helpful. When queried by Jolliffe whether the
RCMP could accept the British screening procedure, and if not, what
information it would require, Commissioner S.T. Wood advised he could not
answer until his organization had studied the matter further.?!

The task of coordinating the activities of concerned government
departments and agencies was given to the newly-formed Committee on
German Scientists (CGS). Chaired by Jolliffe, and staffed by Mallory, Solandt,
Major W H. Barton from DND, P. Eagleson of the NRC, and External Affairs
representative J. Warren, the Committee on 2 December confirmed Trade and
Commerce should approach the cabinet about contracts and reaffirmed the
need for an early reply from the RCMP about security matters. Trade and
Commerce would also handle requests from industry for German workers after
submitting the particulars to the Immigration Branch for clearance. 2 Meeting
again on 10 December, the Committee, while believing there was no
alternative to entering into contracts with each scientist, expressed the view
“that the type of contract and the scale of remuneration would have to be
adjusted to Canadian conditions.” Accordingly, Canada could not accept
Britain’s system until the cabinet had approved British security arrangements,
the need for contracts between German scientists and Canadian agencies, the
type of contract, and scale of remuneration. Responsibility for approaching the
cabinet was given again to Trade and Commerce.?®

There was a difference of opinion, though, concerning the security checks
done in Europe. In mid-December Hume Wrong, Canada’s Ambassador to the
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United States, advised that the American military was not paying strict
attention to immigration regulations when visas were handed out to Germans
because the Americans feared cumbersome and lengthy procedures would
increase the risk German scientists might end up in Soviet hands. Citing State
Department sources, Wrong said American checks consisted “merely in
ascertaining that a given German scientist is not listed as a notoriously
offensive Nazi.”? The RCMP did not agree. Asked in November 1946 to give
its opinion on British procedures, the RCMP judged the work of the Darwin
Panel and the DCOS to be “quite suitable for our requirements.” If Wrong’s
warning was circulated among the relevant officials in Ottawa, his conclusions
seem to have engendered little concern, for:

Once the RCMP had expressed its satisfaction with the screening
provided by the British, security screening of the German scientists
was no longer of concern to government officials at Immigration
Branch or External, and least of all to Trade and Commerce
officials, who were keen to overcome any delays in bringing the
German scientists and technicians to Canada. *

Also eager to overcome Canada’s lack of speed was Britain. LePan reported
in mid-January the Board of Trade had confirmed its agents would trace
German scientists for Canada, would arrange exit permits once contracts had
been signed, and transport the individuals involved to the United Kingdom
where they would be handed over to Canada.”” Two telegrams from the
Dominions Office arrived in Ottawa on 1 February, emphasizing the value
Britain would derive from the use of German experts in military research and
industry, and noting with concern “increasing attempts on part of Russian
authorities to obtain German scientists from Western zones for building up of
Russian war potential.” Vigorous steps were being taken to increase
employment opportunities for German scientists in Germany and the empire,
but the British feared hundreds of individuals would remain jobless and thus
Canada was asked if it was “prepared to employ some or increase the number
already employed.” In order to help the process along, the Dominions Office
would compile a list of possible recruits and send it to Ottawa. *

Concern about the perceived lack of Canadian action was not confined to
British officials. Jolliffe contacted Mallory in late January asking if there had
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been any progress concerning contracts. Overseas, both Robertson and
General Maurice Pope, head of the CMM, asked for guidance. Robertson
reported some of the technicians requested the previous autumn had been
processed and two persons had made it through the security clearance
procedure. But the High Commissioner still did not know whether the men had
to sign contracts with the Canadian government or what level of remuneration
they would get. Pope had a similar complaint, remarking he had “not received
any instructions to guide us in the handling of applications from Germans.”
Spurred on by these inquiries and the Dominion Office telegrams, Pearson
suggested that it was “now advisable to proceed in this matter and obtain
Council approval for the contracts, security screening and travel
arrangements.”?

Bureaucratic considerations continued to plague the speedy development of
a formal policy. While he favoured importing scientists, Solandt thought that,
except in very special circumstances, they should be employed only in industry
and universities. Security considerations, he believed, would present
considerable problems if such persons were placed in defense research
positions. Mackenzie offered a similar viewpoint. As the NRC was small and
unlikely to grow much in the immediate future, Mackenzie, while willing to
take a few German scientists with very specific qualifications, could not take
many without damaging the prospects for employment of first-rate Canadian
experts. He therefore suggested the program might be better served if the
federal government set up a special establishment to handle the situation on a
national rather than an institutional basis, allocating individuals to universities,
industry, and government departments as needed. 3

The British implication that Canada might be asked to take many more
Germans than had been envisioned originally sparked a reaction too.
Remarking that London’s proposal went beyond what the cabinet had
considered, Jolliffe thought a stipulated quota unwise and doubted “the
advisability of admitting any large number of these German scientists and
technicians.” Oliver Master, Trade and Commerce’s Acting Deputy Minister,
suggested a goal of 50 scientists, most to be placed in industry and educational
institutions by Trade and Commerce in cooperation with the NRC and the
Department of National Defense. However, before this could be done policy
guidelines would have to be set by the cabinet and Master declared “that we
should only contract to take scientists whom we need and can definitely place
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in selected positions in Canada.”™!

Much of the blame for the delay can be attributed to problems involved in
drawing up a suitable contract form. Because the Allied Control Council in
Germany insisted all agreements between Germans and agencies for
employment outside of Germany had to be voluntary, Canada faced the
awkward situation of signing covenants with enemy aliens, “a procedure
fraught with legal and political difficulties. . .”** Trade and Commerce had by
early February submitted a draft document to the Department of Justice for
perusal, and it was expected the final version would be ready before February
ended.?® This proved optimistic. Immigration Branch did not receive a copy of
the proposed contract until 13 March, * and the document was not formally
examined by the CGS until 22 April. In the interim a number of cables came
from London listing the names of Germans expressing a wish to emigrate to
Canada as well as those who had already received their security clearances.®
There were, however, several matters that had to be addressed before contracts
could be discussed. At a special meeting held on 15 April, the CGS agreed to
inform cabinet and authorized the Immigration Branch to organize
documentation and medical and security checks for applicants with the
cooperation of the RCMP and the CMM. For those whose entry into Canada
was approved, their transfer would be made possible by a Minister’s Permit
which would allow them to stay in Canada for a year. Mallory, convinced the
number of Germans would not exceed 20, would oversee the applications. *

The Committee had much on its plate when it reassembled on 22 April. It
approved four documents: a contract form; an agreement between the Crown
and potential employers; a guide for Canadian representatives negotiating
covenants in Germany; and a submission from the Committee to the Privy
Council Committee on Scientific and Industrial Research.’” There was some
uncertainty as to whether the Privy Council Committee had the power to
approve the contracts. If it did not, then the cabinet would have to be
approached. Once affirmation was achieved, Canadian industry, provincial
governments, the federal Department of Labour, and universities would be
informed there existed “machinery for obtaining German scientists for whose
services real need existed in Canada, and whose application would meet the
approval of the President of the National Research Council and the Director
General of Defense Research.” In response to Dominions Office pleas, the
Committee recommended “that while every effort would be made to employ
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those of the scientists listed by the United Kingdom authorities for whose
services there was an actual need in Canada, and for whom a request had been
received by the Government, no action would be taken to obtain employment
for those scientists for whom no such need existed.”*® Cold War
considerations may have been important, but obviously not enough to displace
concerns about the cost to native-born Canadians of importing too many
foreign experts.

When the Privy Council Committee on Scientific and Industrial Research,
chaired by Howe, convened on 19 Mayj, it had to consider a CGS memorandum
which outlined the major features of the contracts and recommended giving
approval to the tentative administrative arrangements.* After some discussion,
the Privy Council Committee gave its consent to the proposed arrangements
for the German scientists, and agreed the cabinet should pass an Order in
Council formally approving them. The body proposed too that consideration
be given to the notion that German scientists whose work had proven
satisfactory be allowed to bring dependent family members to Canada. “°

Two days later Howe and Secretary of State for External Affairs (SSEA)
Louis St. Laurent presented the case for importing German experts to the entire
cabinet, St. Laurent arguing that consideration be given to non-German
European scientists too. The ministers agreed, pledging to pass an Order in
Council and to inform Britain of Canadian arrangements. Trade and
Commerce was authorized “in consultation with the other departments and
agencies concerned, [to] prepare and submit proposals for the families of
individuals admitted under these arrangements subject to satisfactory
safeguards.”*! The cabinet passed PC2047 on 29 May 1947, giving legal
backing to the Canadian component of Operation Matchbox. No mention was
made of exact numbers but the cabinet ruled “that while every effort will be
made to employ in Canada those of the listed German scientists and
technicians for whose services there is an actual need and for whom a request
has been received by the Canadian Government, no action will be taken to
absorb in Canada German scientists for whom no such requirement exists.”*

But there was a problem. Immigration Branch Commissioner C.E.S. Smith
thought cabinet had approved St. Laurent’s proposal to employ scientists and
technicians from enemy countries other than Germany. However, he had been
informed by the Privy Council that the attempt to widen the scope of the
program to include non-German enemy aliens would require an amendment to
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an existing Order in Council, PC695. Concerned this might be impossible as it
would “mean enlarging the admissible classes to include a considerable
number of other occupations,” Smith charged if there was a change in the law
“it would be only a matter of time before it would re-act to the detriment of
Canadians who would welcome an opportunity for such positions.”*

The matter was taken up in some detail by the CGS on 3 June. Smith said
procedures existed already for bringing nationals from all enemy countries
except Germany and Japan, and he did not anticipate there would be any need
to import any Japanese. As the cabinet’s intentions remained unclear, Smith
and Stannard intended to contact the Privy Council Committee on Industrial
and Scientific Research for clarification.** Stannard did approach Heeney,
informing him the CGS believed the recruitment of non-German scientists was
not related to Operation Matchbox and that the new Deputy Minister of Mines
and Resources, Hugh Keenleyside, concurred and would be contacting
cabinet.” Heeney wrote Keenleyside that the cabinet had intended only that
Canadian industry would have access to “not only the services of German
scientists and technicians under the special proposals submitted but also to
make at least not less advantageous arrangements for bringing in technical
people from other non-enemy countries who would be useful in Canada.”

This idea that Canada should avail itself of the opportunity brought about by
the war to acquire skilled personnel to continue Canada’s economic
development certainly was an important consideration in Ottawa’s choice to
take German scientists. However, despite pressure from industry and some
government departments for a less restrictive immigration policy,*’ the
Immigration Branch remained cautious. When the Privy Council Committee
got together on 3 July, it accepted Jolliffe’s and Keenleyside’s
recommendations that non-German scientists should be dealt with under
ordinary immigration procedures, although each application would be referred
to Trade and Commerce before any action was taken. Should an application be
reviewed favourably, cabinet would examine each case separately.*®

Other issues were decided quickly. On 3 June the CGS approved the texts of
letters to universities, provincial governments and the Department of Labour
outlining the procedures to be followed in the recruitment and employment of
German nationals, ruling too that if an employee’s work record was
satisfactory for a period of at least six weeks, “his wife and unmarried children
under 18 may be admitted to Canada, providing immigration inspection and
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transportation can be arranged,” a decision approved by the Privy Council
Committee on Scientific and Industrial Research.* The last technical hurdle
was overcome when the Privy Council issued PC2417 on 19 June, authorizing
the Minister of Trade and Commerce, or any person chosen by him to act on his
behalf, “to execute agreements between His Majesty and German scientists,
and between His Majesty and the eventual employer in Canada of these
scientists, in accordance with the plan approved by Order in Council P.C. 2047
of May 29, 1947.” %0

The government intended to keep its part in Matchbox removed from the
public eye. External Affairs had prepared in November 1946 a press release
announcing that a few German scientists might be brought to Canada on a
temporary basis for industrial and educational purposes, 3' but it is uncertain
whether the message was issued. What is clear is that Germans recruited under
the program were forbidden by the terms of their contract from making any
public statement about their activities without Trade and Commerce
permission.”? This desire for secrecy may have stemmed from a concern to
avoid alerting the Soviets. However, it is more likely the Canadian
government, warned in December 1946 by Wrong that press reports in the
United States had prompted a major political controversy about German
scientists residing south of the 49th Parallel,® wanted to avoid a similar
situation. These preparations threatened to unravel when Conservative
Member of Parliament (MP) Howard Green asked on 16 June 1947 about press
reports that German scientists and technicians were being brought to Canada.
Aware the question was forthcoming, Minister of Trade and Commerce James
Mackinnon outlined briefly the procedure by which selected German experts
were being recruited for universities and industry. Asserting Canada would
take no more scientists than it could use, the Minister stated “at the present
time it does not look as if there will be more than 12 or 15 such people seeking
entry into Canada.”* A week later a second MP, Thomas Reid, submitted 18
questions, most of them dealing with concerns about selection procedures and
contact terms. The answers were tabled on 26 June,* this episode marking both
the beginning and the end of parliamentary scrutiny of Matchbox.

With this potential flashpoint successfully defused, the government set
about making Matchbox work. Howe, believing the admission of Germans
was too slow (he blamed delays in RCMP investigations) received cabinet
approval to have the Minister of Justice expedite matters.*® If Justice managed
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to effect a change (and there is a lack of records to support a judgment), Howe
soon realized not all the dallying was Canada’s fault. Jules Leger, the Acting
High Commissioner in London, aware Trade and Commerce was unhappy
about the way the Board of Trade and the Joint Staff Mission in Washington
were handling applications, cautioned against taking any radical steps to alter
the agreed procedure as the situation was improving gradually and because he
feared such interference “would serve no useful purpose and might even
embarrass us.” If Trade and Commerce tried to bypass the existing
arrangements by submitting names directly to the Joint Staff Mission, such an
action “would definitely create trouble for all of us.”%’

But the system of scientist allocation was undergoing a significant
alteration, and Canada discovered it had no input in the changes. As early as
August 1948 the British and Americans had begun to streamline the process by
having a committee in Germany rather than Washington deal with the
applications of German experts. Canada was not informed of this move until
October, the Board of Trade stating further delays were likely because
although the Americans felt the agreement was satisfactory, they felt it could
not be put “into operation without the approval of their Chiefs of Staff and, so
far, this has not been received.” Until this was accomplished, the United States
would stop handling applications in Washington. This logjam would not be
cleared, the Board of Trade thought, until January 1949 in the aftermath of the
American presidential election.*®

This pessimistic prediction was wrong. On 18 November the Board of Trade
was pleased to announce the United States had finally approved the new
scheme, although when the Bipartite Allocation Committee would begin
operations in Germany remained unknown.* For Canadian agents, the new
rules involved giving a potential recruit details of the job offer which would be
forwarded with a curriculum vitae and, if that person was employed already, a
release from the German employer. Then the Allied Movement Control
Administration would issue an exit visa and transfer the file to the Bipartite
Committee. Once the application was approved there, the Canadian authorities
would sign a contract with the German and arrange transportation to Canada.®

There were immediate complaints about the new arrangements. External
Affairs and Trade and Commerce were concerned more delays would
inevitably result, hampering not only new requests but those already in
progress. B.R. Hayden of Trade and Commerce thought it might be necessary
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to circumvent the established procedure and deal directly with the authorities
in the British zone without waiting for action by the Bipartite Committee. By
doing so in one or two cases, Hayden hoped this “might annoy the United
States officials sufficiently to get more rapid action on other cases under the
official scheme.” Concerned about the possible repercussions of such a step,
External Affairs advised Hayden to examine in detail the Bipartite
Committee’s procedures and get back with some comments.5'

Aware of Canadian discomfort, Broomfield admitted there was much
paperwork involved and that “a good deal of chasing up of the individuals
[German scientists] will be necessary,” but thought the British Control
Commission might help by transmitting Canadian offers to a prospective
applicant and by gathering relevant documents in Germany for a fee. As
displeased German employers had gained the apparent right not to release their
workers, Trade and Commerce felt the Board’s offer would only confuse an
already complicated situation. The weakness of the proposal, Hayden charged,
was “in the lack of definite information on security,” information his
department required if it was to gain the necessary travel permits from the
Immigration Branch.5

One of the worries was dealt with quickly. On 27 January Robertson cabled
that the British had assured him all Germans “cleared by the Bipartite
Allocation Committee have been screened by security authorities.”®
Furthermore, upon closer examination of the new procedures with Trade and
Commerce’s representative in London, Frederic Hudd of Canada House
recommended Broomfield’s offer be accepted as the aid “should result in a
more expeditious clearance and removal of German scientists and technicians
to Canada.”® Trade and Commerce had another opinion. Believing
applications might be more quickly processed by dealing directly with B.J.
Bachand, Canada’s Commercial Representative in Germany, the department
declined to make use of the Control Commission pending Bachand’s answer.
Having been intimately involved already in acquiring German nationals for
work in Canada, Bachand had no objection. However, he pointed out that the
Control Commission, with offices in both the British and American occupation
zones, had proven very helpful in dealing with American bureaucratic red tape.
Moreover, Britain’s delegate on the Bipartite Commission was a former
member of the Control Commission. With this in mind, both Canada House
and Commissioner Smith favoured retaining Control Commission services.
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Mallory accepted on 21 May 1949.%

Not all of the difficulties were procedural. Canada found itself often in
competition with Britain and the United States for the same individual scientist
or technician, a battle the smaller nation could not win for, without its own
occupation zone, Canada was forced to rely on its allies’ good offices. The first
problem in this regard occurred when Canada attempted to recruit Wenzel
Sistek in late 1947. The Americans rejected Canada’s application for Sistek,
but because Trade and Commerce valued his abilities enough to claim “no
effort should be spared to obtain the necessary clearance for this man,”
External Affairs asked the Board of Trade and Wrong to seek a reversal of this
decision. While sympathetic, Broomfield offered no support because Britain
and the United States held that their military governments in Germany had the
right to ban the removal of any German from the occupied zones if that person
was deemed essential to the economy. In Sistek’s case, the ban was apparently
temporary and the United States had been informed of Canada’s interest in
him. %

Wrong could offer little more help beyond revealing that the transfer of
Sistek and two Germans desired by Britain had been blocked by the War
Department on the grounds the men were required in their present work by the
American army. More importantly, the Canadians discovered the agreement
governing the clearances of German scientists was not interpreted in the same
way by Britain and the United States. London believed the covenant allowed
for any nation in the Commonwealth to take part; the Americans argued that if
Britain cleared a German scientist, he/she could work only in Britain. British
officials in Washington pledged to keep working on behalf of Canada and as
the Canadian embassy judged little could be gained by approaching the State
Department, “the only alternative would seem to be for Canada to be more
actively identified with the existing arrangements, in which case we would be
in a stronger position to make a direct approach to the Department of State.”s’
Agreeing Canada was in a relatively weak position in securing disputed
clearances, Mallory doubted much could be done to strengthen Canada’s
position. Moreover, he feared establishing an independent Canadian system
would only increase the amount of work and slow down the clearance
procedure without providing “sufficient improvement to justify the attempt.”
He was inclined to let the matter rest “and to make a protest in exceptional
cases when the circumstances warrant.”®® The matter was allowed to rest, but a
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small victory was gained when Sistek arrived in Canada in October 1948 to
take up a position at the Canada and Dominion Sugar Company .

Less easily settled was a dispute between Immigration Branch teams in
Germany and Mr. Jackson, Bachand’s predecessor in Germany. In late 1947
Jackson had complained to Pope that the Immigration office in Hamburg had
refused to grant a visa to a German scientist, forcing Jackson to drive the man
to Berlin. Arguing there was a risk involved in transporting the man through
the Russian zone, Pope thought External Affairs should be apprised of the
situation and suggested the Immigration Office be reminded of the provisions
of PC2047. Two days later, stating he had been told by Immigration officers
they were not empowered to examine German scientists “or to grant them visas
unless they have received definite instructions to do so from the Department of
Mines and Resources,” Pope recommended both Trade and Commerce and
Mines and Resources take action to ensure the expeditious transfer of German
specialists to Canada “and particularly that when Mr. Jackson is instructed by
his Department to seek out and dispatch such a person to Canada, concurrent
instructions be communicated by the Immigration Branch to their
representative in the field to process the individual in question in the normal
manner.”™

Pope’s requests were not taken to heart by the Immigration Branch. Some
seven months after Jackson’s difficulties, Bachand complained that
Immigration officers received him “like a potential trickster” who was trying
to smuggle people into Canada without authorization. Bachand admitted the
task of retaining a polite attitude when dealing with Immigration Branch
officials “is, I can assure you, sometimes most exasperating.” Bringing the
matter to the attention of Commissioner Smith, Hayden had assured Bachand
that “as far as Ottawa is concerned we are continuing to receive one hundred
per cent co-operation from Immigration.” Importantly, Hayden declared to
Smith that he was “bringing this matter to your attention rather than have
anything official go on file.” 7! If it was Hayden’s intention to resolve the
problem by not ruffling any bureaucratic feathers and thus maintaining good
interdepartmental cooperation, his low-key approach paid off. Smith replied
that after consulting with the Immigration teams’ former leader, the difficulties
stemmed from the fact the teams received notification of a particular scientist’s
approval two to three weeks after Bachand and the Military Mission did. This
problem would be avoided in future by sending cables immediately to the
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Immigration officials in Germany.”

A far greater threat to intra-governmental harmony was posed by the
Department of Labour’s attempt to achieve some form of control over
Matchbox. This was not a random incident but part of a wider effort by Labour
to have its voice heard on immigration matters, a voice that often conflicted
with the viewpoint of the Immigration Branch. The latter had adopted after
1945 an expansionist approach, favouring a much larger but still heavily
controlled intake of immigrants. Labour, on the other hand, believed
immigration should be organized to fill existing gaps in the Canadian work
force and geared to the business cycle; if unemployment rose, the intake should
be lowered. Attempts to coordinate activities, including the establishment of
an Immigration-Labour Committee in 1947 were not entirely successful.
Labour and the Immigration Branch continued to fight jurisdictional battles
over their respective German operations, a struggle that did not cease when
“the Immigration Mission in Germany was given full responsibility in that
area.””

It is important to note that during Matchbox’s early days, Labour was not
consulted on the project; neither did it have representatives on the CGS nor the
Privy Council Committee on Scientific and Industrial Research. Labour
Minister Humphrey Mitchell was present at the cabinet meetings discussing
the issue in 1946 and 1947, but if he had any concerns, they found no public
expression. Perhaps the only reference prior to 1949 of Labour interest came in
June 1948 when Mallory mentioned that a Mr. Dymond of Labour’s Technical
Information Service had said his organization would take care of the placement
of the displaced people (DPs) “and leave the placing of German technicians to
me [Mallory].”””* This lack of interest ended in January 1949. Informed that 15
German scientists and technicians had been brought to Canada and that Trade
and Commerce was looking at an additional 21 individuals, Labour’s Deputy
Minister A. MacNamara contacted his counterpart at Trade and Commerce,
M.W. Mackenzie, about taking over the recruitment of scientific and technical
personnel.” MacNamara may have been motivated by criticism of his
department’s importation of unskilled labour or by the need to centralize
overseas recruitment under Labour’s aegis. It is possible too he was trying to
reverse the 1947 decision which had made the Immigration teams supreme in
Germany. Mackenzie responded favourably. Trade and Commerce, he said,
had acquired the task of processing the Germans through its wartime
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involvement with the Joint Committee on Enemy Science and Technology. As
a next step, Mackenzie suggested two Labour representatives meet with
Mallory and Hayden. As the project involved only 34 persons, the Labour
officials agreed Trade and Commerce should complete it. Trade and
Commerce did agree to hand over to Labour responsibility for handling the
bringing to Canada of DPs or other immigrants with technical skills.”s

If MacNamara and Mackenzie thought the matter had been amicably settled,
they were proven wrong. Hugh Keenleyside, the Deputy Minister of Mines and
Resources, was most displeased upon receiving word of the meeting. Noting
both he and Jolliffe would have attended had they been invited, Keenleyside
told MacNamara that given the Immigration Branch’s responsibility for
administering the Immigration Act, “the subject of your discussions with the
officials of the Department of Trade and Commerce is obviously a matter upon
which decisions cannot be taken without our concurrence”. The decision
concerning the German scientists was reasonable, but Keenleyside could not
accept the deal struck on the issue of foreign technical personnel. He therefore
intended to ask M. W. Mackenzie to transmit all inquires received at Trade and
Commerce concerning such personnel to the Immigration Branch which in
turn would consult with Labour where necessary.”

Although Keenleyside and MacNamara continued to argue about the entry
of skilled individuals (with Mackenzie acting as conciliator), 8 their dispute
centered on issues that had nothing to do with Matchbox which was winding
down in 1949. The program’s demise was sped along not only by the creation
in 1949 of the new Federal Republic of Germany, but also by the relaxation of
the special restrictions placed on the entry of enemy aliens. The cabinet, on 21
December 1949, agreed that temporary entry into Canada could be extended to
German business men engaged in international trade or to persons of German
nationality “who were likely to make a definite contribution to the intellectual,
scientific, commercial or cultural life in Canada,” a category that included
senior university students, students on scholarship in Canada, and fellowship
holders. The last barrier to the immigration of German citizens (not including
those who had been members of the Nazi Party, the Wehrmacht or the SS) fell
on 14 September 1950 when PC4364 dropped Germans from the list of enemy
nationals.

There were some final administrative details to be worked out before
Matchbox ended. One, as Jolliffe reported on 2 December 1949, was the fact
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that many of the contracts had ended and the affected individuals wanted to
know if they could stay in Canada permanently. Because the government had
not yet decided what to do about German immigration, Jolliffe felt he could not
“recommend the granting of permanent status to these German technicians.”
He was willing, though, to give contract extensions to those “who had been in
Canada two years or more and whose services are required and for whom
favourable recommendation is made by the Department of Trade and
Commerce.”® This second proposal found favour with the cabinet which
passed PC886 authorizing Trade and Commerce to extend the agreements “for
a further period not in excess of two years.”8! In a document submitted to the
Department of Citizenship and Immigration in October 1950, Hayden stated
those still in Canada (42) would not have their contracts lengthened beyond
their expiry dates. He asked also that any applications made by the Germans to
stay in Canada be forwarded to Trade and Commerce for comment “on the
desirability of granting permanent landing.”®*

Was Matchbox a success? In terms of numbers, Canada, according to the
Deschenes Commission, recruited only 71 German scientists and technicians,
two of whom apparently never entered Canada.®® By contrast, the United States
employed 765 German specialists,  while the Australians accepted at least 73
and possibly as many as 94.% The levels for Britain or France were likely in the
hundreds. That Canada could not approach the total taken by its southern
neighbour is not surprising. One might even say that given the size of the
United States relative to Canada, the Canadian effort was roughly
proportionate to its American counterpart. However, given the effort involved,
the acquisition of 69 warm bodies must be seen as a disappointment. That more
were not found can be attributed to a number of factors: the chaos existing in
Germany after 1945 which made the locating of relevant specialists difficult;
the competition among the Western powers and the Soviet Union for German
experts; the fact that Canada had relatively little to offer scientists in terms of
professional and technological facilities and rewards *; a cumbersome set of
administrative procedures in Germany and Canada; and finally, the interaction
of too many actors in the Canadian bureaucracy, each concerned with
jurisdictional protection and turf wars. In retrospect, given these factors,
Canada may have been lucky it managed to attract the 69 individuals that it did.

Of course, not all Canadians, if David Matas’ comments cited at the
beginning of this study can be said to be representative of some proportion of
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Canada’s society, were pleased to hear of their nation’s part in Matchbox.
Given that the project’s “discovery” was made by a commission studying the
possible existence of war criminals here, it is almost unavoidable that such a
negative judgment would be made. The situation was not made any better by
claims that four employees of the German firm I.G. Farben, a company
charged with war crimes, sought admission into Canada after 1945 under
Matchbox’s provisions. Although it is unclear whether any or all of these
individuals made it in, according to historian Alti Rodal (who carried out
research for the Deschenes Commission) this episode indicates that “given the
British and American record of overlooking possible war criminal background
of the German scientists for the sake of denying them to the Soviet Union -...
the security screening done on behalf of Canada by British and American
authorities was not reliable.”®

For Rodal, the major motivation for British and American participation, and
subsequently their Canadian ally, beyond the acquisition of German
technological expertise, was the Cold War imperative of denying the Soviets
access to that knowledge. Rodal makes much of Robertson’s telegram of 27
November 1946 in which Canada’s High Commissioner to Britain outlined the
political setting in which the recruitment of German scientists was taking
place. Most importantly, she asserts that security concerns about letting in
possible war criminals were overcome by Howe’s belief that effective security
procedures were less important than the speedy admission of German
specialists.®® Rodal overstates her case. Certainly Howe was much less
concerned about security considerations than others but there is no evidence
Howe wanted the RCMP to do anything more than to be more efficient
administratively. If the American and British authorities were turning a blind
eye towards the past of some of the individuals they were recruiting, there is
little evidence Canada was doing the same in Matchbox, despite claims by Reg
Whitaker and Alvin Finkel that Canadian immigration policy after 1945
discriminated against prospective left-wing immigrants in favour of those on
the right of the political spectrum.® Rodal sees problems with security where
there are none. In her view, Bachand’s problems with the Immigration Branch
in 1948 were the result of irregularities in the recruitment of Germans as
perceived by the Immigration teams, *rather than the communication problem
noted above.

Moreover, Rodal’s arguments are injured by her reliance on the conclusions
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of Linda Hunt and Tom Bower. American scholar John Gimbel has attacked
the work of both these individuals as “less than models of balanced historical
analysis,” and for bashing the actions of the US military while paying “little or
no attention to the broader base of the policy [to acquire German
specialists].”' Gimbel asserts the American program to use German experts
was but one aspect of a much wider effort to exploit German “know-how for
the benefit of the military and industrial establishments in the United States.”
As such, the denial of German scientists to the Soviet Union was not a primary
reason although “it did provide a convenient rationale for the program and
helped make it acceptable to the American public at large,” as well as enabling
the circumvention of American immigration and de-Nazification regulations.”

Gimbel’s findings might easily be applied to Canada’s part in Matchbox.
The Cold War context did provide a way to overcome any objections that
might have arisen when the subject of importing German scientists and
technicians came up. However, unlike the situation in the United States where
there was significant bureaucratic tussling on the issue, the Canadian
authorities spent little time pondering anything but the possible economic
benefits to be gained. Departing again from American practice, where the bulk
of the Germans were employed by the various military services, Canada chose
to direct its recruits to industry and university research. Of some importance is
that there was seemingly no connection made between bringing in selected
German specialists and the question of German immigration as a whole.
Matchbox proved not to be a precedent for relaxing the stringent measures
which barred the entry of German citizens into Canada until 1950. Also vital is
that Canada relied almost totally on British and American authorities to
conduct the bulk of the security checks on the people recruited in Germany.
This consideration became important later as claims emerged that both Britain
and the United States knowingly took in Germans and other Europeans
accused of war crimes. There is little evidence that the Canadian government
acted similarly and any concerns about such individuals slipping through the
security net were overcome quickly as Canada competed with its allies for the
best brains. Reasons of economic and political expediency appear to have
triumphed over any possible moral qualms. If one Canadian historian can
describe Canada’s immigration policy towards Europe between 1945 and 1952
as defined by a combination of altruism and economic self-interest, °* then
Operation Matchbox can be seen as only a minor triumph of the politics of
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economic self-interest given that the government departments, after so much

squabbling and effort, could only bring 69 German specialists to Canada.
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